
 

 

      BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 

12:00 P.M., November 26, 2024 

GHURA’s Main Office (via Zoom) 

1st floor, Conference Room, Sinajana  

AGENDA 

 

I. ROLL CALL 

 

II. BOARD MEETING PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 1st Printing – Tuesday, November 19, 2024 
 2nd Printing – Sunday, November 24, 2024 
 
III. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS BOARD MINUTES – November 12, 2024 

                                                                                                                  

                                                                                                                   PAGE (S)                                                        

IV.     NEW BUSINESS  

1. Resolution No. FY2025-009 …………………………………………………………          1 - 5 

Resolution approving the Condemnation of properties by eminent  

domain of Lot 5327-4-R5, Lot 5327-4-2, Lot 5327-4-3, Lot 5327-4-4, 

Lot 5327-4-5, Lot 5328-REM-R2, and Lot 5328-REM-2, including fee  

simple title thereto, for public use. 

2. Resolution No. FY2025-010 …………………………………………………………         6 - 8 

Resolution approving the Amendment authorizing GHURA to accept an  

additional two million five hundred thousand dollars ($2,500,000.00) 

in Guam Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds for  

Community Development Projects; an additional two hundred  

thousand dollars ($200,000.00) in Guam Coronavirus State and Local 

Fiscal Recovery Funds for associated administrative costs; and the  

ratification of all Board of Commissioners actions taken pursuant to  

Resolution Nos. FY2024-016 and FY2024-016(A). 

 

V. OLD BUSINESS 

1. Resolution No. FY2025-008 ……………………………………………………… 

Resolution to extend loan funds to Manelu by GHURA 

 

VI. GENERAL DISCUSSION / ANNOUNCEMENTS 

1. 2024 LIHTC QAP / Application Cycle ……………………………………………     9 - 24 

2. Next proposed scheduled Board Meeting:  Tuesday, December 10, 2024 

@ 12:00 p.m.   

 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 





 





 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of November 12, 2024                                                       Page 1 of 10 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 

12:00 P.M., November 12, 2024 

GHURA’s Main Office (via Zoom) 

1st floor, Conference Room, Sinajana  

AGENDA 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

After notice was duly given, pursuant to the Open Government Law of Guam and the Bylaws of 
the Authority, the Board of Commissioners’ regularly scheduled board meeting was called to 
order at 12:02 P.M., Tuesday, November 12, 2024, at the GHURA Sinajana Main Office, 1st 
floor Conference room. Vice Chairman Sanchez indicated that 4 of 6 members of the Board of 
Commissioners were present, representing a quorum and that the meeting would proceed as 
scheduled. 

 
Viewed 
virtually via 

ZOOM: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83354150880?pwd=iBj85JqOCnRS5skn3btDMAtfnMunGa.1  

YOUTUBE: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCGqKWU0kOmT0FOLYn48ULag 

BOC 
Commissioners 
Attendance 
 

Dr. John Rivera, Chairman                                        Virtual              In-Person 
Nate Sanchez, Vice Chairman                                  Virtual             In-Person   

Anisia Delia, Commissioner                                      Virtual            In-Person    
Emilia Rice, Commissioner                                       Virtual             In-Person   
Victor Torres, Commissioner                                   Virtual             In-Person    

Karl Corpus, Resident Commissioner                     Virtual             In-Person    
*There were no virtual attendance requests. 

GHURA 
Management/ 
Staff  

Elizabeth F. Napoli, Executive Director          Julie Lujan, MIS Administrator     Carlo Ongklungel  
Fernando B. Esteves, Deputy Director           Sonny Perez, AE Manager             Naricel Carlos   
Audrey Aguon, Special Assistant                     Norma San Nicolas   

Frances Danieli, Controller                               Narcissa Ada, AMP1 Manager  
Katherine Taitano, RP&E Chief Planner         Gina Cura, AMP2 Manager  
Dr. Kimberly Bersamin, HR Administrator     Patrick Bamba, AMP3 Manager  
Antonio Camacho, Procurement                     Philomena San Nicolas, AMP4 Manager  

Pearly Mendiola, GT Manager □                         Jolyn Terlaje   
Nicole Alejandro                                                Miguel Fernandez           
Michael Ricuyal    □                                               Ervin Santiago     

Maria Cherry Canete □                                         Patrick Luces  
 

Legal Counsel Eliseo M. Florig Jr., GHURA’s Legal Counsel   
 

Public None indicated 
 

 

II. BOARD MEETING PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS 

1st Printing – Tuesday, October 8, 2024 
    2nd Printing – Sunday, October 13, 2024    
   ACKNOWLEDGED BY VICE CHAIRMAN SANCHEZ 
 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCGqKWU0kOmT0FOLYn48ULag


 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of November 12, 2024                                                       Page 2 of 10 
 

III. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS BOARD MINUTES: [353/24] Vice Chairman Sanchez         

moved to approve the board meeting minutes of October 15, 2024 and called for a 

vote. Board of Commissioners voted unanimously to approve the previous board 

meeting minutes.  

 

IV. NEW BUSINESS: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

1. Resolution No. 
FY2025-003- 
Resolution 
approving the 
Above-Step 
Recruitment for 
the Accountant II 
(Permanent 
Position) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[354/24] Executive Director Napoli read 
Resolution No. FY2025-003, approving the 
Above-Step Recruitment of the Accountant 
II, Permanent Position for Ms. Naricel T. 
Carlos on pgs. 1 and 2 of 27 in the GHURA 
BoC packet of November 12, 2024.  

Dr. Kimberly Bersamin, HR Administrator, 
stated the following: 

• Requested for an Above-step 
recruitment for the accountant II 
position. 

• The Merit system for the position has 
been completed and is ready to request 
for the permanent classified position.  

• She passed the floor to Mrs. Frances 
Danieli, Controller, to attest to Ms. 
Carlos’s background and experience. 

Mrs. Frances Danieli, Controller, stated the 
following: 

• Ms. Carlos is a quick learner. 
• She had been instrumental in the Fiscal 

Division in that other accountants have 
looked to Ms. Carlos’s guidance for 
difficult bank reconciliations such as 
Section 8’s bank accounts and GHURA’s 
revolving fund.  

• She had provided great insight into 
improving GHURA’s bank reconciliations 
and Fiscal’s processes.  

• She had been detailed as Fiscal’s 
Certifying Officer. 

• Ms. Carlos has combined her experience 
in the private sector with her position in 
the government, making her a fine asset 
for GHURA.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of November 12, 2024                                                       Page 3 of 10 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vice Chairman Sanchez asked Ms. Danieli if the 
fiscal division was fully staffed with 
accountants. Ms. Danieli stated that the fiscal 
division was not fully staffed and needed four 
more accountants but is working on recruiting 
two more accountants.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[355/24] Commissioner 

Corpus moved to 

approve Resolution No. 

FY2025-003, approving 

the above-step 

recruitment for the 

Accountant II permanent 

position for Ms. Naricel 

T. Carlos, MG5-8(A), 

$65,536.00 p/a; $31.51 

p/hr. Commissioner Rice 

seconded the motion,  

There were no 

objections. Motion 

passed unanimously.  



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of November 12, 2024                                                       Page 4 of 10 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

2. Resolution No. 
FY2025-004-
Resolution 
authorizing the 
Section Eight 
Management 
Assessment 
Program 
(SEMAP) 
Certification 
(Form HUD-
52648) for Fiscal 
Year Ending 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[356/24] Director Napoli read the 2024 
SEMAP Certification on pg. 3 of 27 of the 
Nov. 12, 2024 GHURA BoC packet and 
Resolution No. FY2025-004, authorizing the 
Section Eight Management Assessment 
Program (SEMAP) Certification (Form HUD-
52648) for Fiscal Year Ending 2024 on pg. 5 
of 27.  

 

Ms. Norma San Nicolas, Section 8 
Administrator, stated the following: 

• The form is a HUD tool used to evaluate 
how Section 8 performs and how the 
Section 8 program is administered,   

• Mrs. Nicole Alejandro oversees auditing 
the Section 8 files to determine whether 
Section 8 is compliant with the program.  

Mrs. Nicole Alejandro stated the following 
regarding the evaluation process: 

• The monthly self-assessment includes 
QC reviews of indicators one through 
seven  

• Files are randomly selected for review 
• If there are discrepancies, it is reviewed 

by supervisors and corrections are made 
and discussed with the case worker.  

• Section 8 staff meets monthly to review 
discrepancies and make corrections.  
 

Vice Chairman Sanchez inquired about some of 
the discrepancies that were found. Ms. 
Alejandro indicated that one example for 
indicator number three may be that a 
participant’s income is not properly reported to 
the case worker. It is important that all income 
is reported to determine the participant’s 
share. Staff would identify the discrepancy and 
go through the proper processes to correct it. 
Vice Chairman Sanchez indicated that the board 
appreciated that the staff had taken steps to 
remedy the situation.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of November 12, 2024                                                       Page 5 of 10 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commissioner Rice inquired about the timeline 
of NSPIRE and what the variables are going to 
be regarding landlords and the inspections of 
units. Ms. San Nicolas indicated that HUD had 
indicated that the absolute drop date will be 
October 1, 2025. MIS is working with the 
vendor to obtain the software needed. The staff 
had received training and will be going through 
more training to ensure a smooth transition.  

Deputy Director Fernandez added that GHURA 
is better poised to succeed in the transition and 
will continue with the landlord education. Ms. 
San Nicolas indicated that the inspection team 
has been briefing landlords and sending out 
notices regarding NSPIRE and what to expect.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(357/24)] Commissioner 

Rice moved to approve 

Resolution No. FY2025-

004, approving the 

Section Eight 

Management Assessment 

Program (SEMAP) 

Certification Form HUD 

52648 for FY Ending 

2024. Commissioner 

Torres seconded the 

motion. There were no 

objections. Motion 

passed unanimously 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of November 12, 2024                                                       Page 6 of 10 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

3. Resolution No. 
2025-005, 
Resolution to 
adopt the revised 
Housing Choice 
Voucher Program 
Administrative 
Plan that include 
changes 
mandated by the 
Housing 
Opportunities 
Through 
Modernization 
Act (HOTMA) of  
2016. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(358/24) Director Napoli read the 
Memorandum of Request for Approval and 
adoption of GHURA’s Revised Section 8 HCV 
Administrative Plan on pg. 11 of 27 and the 
Resolution No, FY2025-005, Resolution to 
adopt the revised Housing Choice Voucher 
Program Administrative Plan that includes 
changes mandated by the Housing 
Opportunities Through Modernization Act 
(HOTMA) of 2016 on pgs. 12-13 of 27 in the 
GHURA BoC packet of November 12, 2024.  

 

There were no questions or further discussions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[359/24/24] 

Commissioner Torres 

moved to approve the 

Resolution No, 

FY2025-005, 

Resolution to adopt 

the revised Housing 

Choice Voucher 

Program 

Administrative Plan 

that includes changes 

mandated by the 

Housing Opportunities 

Through 

Modernization Act 

(HOTMA) of 2016. 

Commissioner Rice 

seconded the motion.  

There were no 

objections. Motion 

passed unanimously.  



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of November 12, 2024                                                       Page 7 of 10 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

4. Resolution No. 
2025-006, 
Resolution 
approving the 
FY2025 Section 8 
Housing Choice 
Voucher Program 
Utility Allowance 
Schedule and 
Additional 
Allowances for 
Reasonable 
Accommodations 
for Persons with 
disabilities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(360/24) Director Napoli read the 
Memorandum of 2025 Utility Allowance 
Schedule on pgs. 16-17 of 27 and Resolution 
No. 2025-006 approving the FY2025 Section 
8 Housing Choice Voucher Program Utility 
Allowance Schedule and Additional 
Allowances for Reasonable 
Accommodations for Persons with 
disabilities on pgs. 18-19 of 27 in the 
GHURA BoC packet of November 12, 2024.  

 

Vice Chairman Sanchez asked about whether 
the increasing of utility rates has had a negative 
impact on GHURA clients. Ms. San Nicolas 
stated that one of the concerns is that the 
disconnection of power or water is grounds for 
termination, so Section 8 must be diligent about 
monitoring the increases in utility rates. She 
added that tenants are also more mindful that 
their utilities must stay running otherwise it 
becomes a safety issue which will impact the 
housing quality standards and the condition of 
the unit.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(361/24) Commissioner 

Torres moved to approve 

Resolution No. FY2025-

006 approving the 

FY2025 Section 8 

Housing Choice 

Voucher Program 

Utility Allowance 

Schedule and 

Additional Allowances 

for Reasonable 

Accommodations for 

Persons with 

disabilities. 

Commissioner Rice 

seconded the motion. 

There were no 

objections. Motion 

passed unanimously.  

 

Vice Chairman Sanchez 

called for a five-minute 

recess. Before the break, 

Mr. Florig, GHURA’s Legal 

Counsel, recommended 

that the audio and video 

remain on and that the 

commissioners not 

discuss board matters 

during the break, and 

that all discussions by 

attendees will continue 

to be recorded.  

 

Vice Chairman called 
to resume the meeting 
after the break at 
1:13p.m.  



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of November 12, 2024                                                       Page 8 of 10 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

5. Resolution No. 
FY2025-007, 
Resolution 
approving Fiscal 
Year 2025 
Section 8 
Housing Choice 
Voucher Program 
Payment 
Standards 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

(362/24) Director Napoli read Resolution 
No. FY2025-007, Resolution approving 
Fiscal Year 2025 Section 8 Housing Choice 
Voucher Program Payment Standards on 
pgs. 26-27 of 27 on the GHURA BoC Packet of 
November 12, 2024.  

 

Ms. Norma San Nicolas stated that the primary 
reason that GHURA is requesting approval for 
the maximum of 110 is because of the increase 
in the utility rates and because utilities is a part 
of housing assistance.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(363/24) Commissioner 

Corpus moved to 

approve Resolution No. 

FY2025-007, 

Resolution approving 

Fiscal Year 2025 

Section 8 Housing 

Choice Voucher 

Program Payment 

Standards. 

Commissioner Rice 

seconded the motion. 

There were no 

objections. Motion 

passed unanimously.  

 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of November 12, 2024                                                       Page 9 of 10 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

6. Resolution No. 
FY2025-008; 
Resolution to 
extend loan 
funds to Manelu 
by GHURA 

 

(364/24) Director Napoli informed the 
board that item number six, Resolution No. 
FY2025-008, be tabled.  

(365/24) Vice Chairman 

Sanchez acknowledged 

that item number six, 

Resolution No. FY2025-

008 be tabled.  

 

 

V. GENERAL DISCUSSIONS / ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

Next proposed scheduled 
Board Meeting; November 26, 
2024 @ 12:00 p.m. 

 

 

 

(366/24) Vice Chairman Sanchez 
requested that commissioners mark 
their calendars and confirm with 
GHURA staff regarding attendance of 
the next scheduled meeting.  

No Action taken. 

 

 

VI. ADJOURNMENT: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

  [367/24] 

Commissioner Rice 

moved to adjourn the 

October 15, 2024, 

meeting. 

Commissioner Torres 

seconded the motion. 

There were no 

objections. Motion 

passed. The meeting 

was adjourned at 

1:25p.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of November 12, 2024                                                       Page 10 of 10 
 

SEAL 
 
              ______________________________ 
        Elizabeth F. Napoli 
        Board Secretary/Executive 
Director 
   
        Date __________________________ 

    



 

 

GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

RESOLUTION NO.   FY2025-009 

 
 

Moved by:                                                          Seconded by:        

 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE CONDEMNATION OF PROPERTIES BY EMINENT DOMAIN 

OF LOT 5327-4-R5, LOT 5327-4-2, LOT 5327-4-3, LOT 5327-4-4, LOT 5327-4-5, LOT 5328-REM-R2, 

AND LOT 5328-REM-2, INCLUDING FEE SIMPLE TITLE THERETO, FOR PUBLIC USE. 
 
 

WHEREAS,  the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority (“GHURA”) was created, in part, to adjoin 
the national policy to promote the health, safety, and welfare of its people by proper planning 
of community development through all available federal and local governmental programs and 
through encouragement of private enterprise to participate in the common task of community 
improvement.; and 

 

WHEREAS,  the governance of GHURA is vested in the Board of Commissioners and empowered with all 

powers, rights, duties, privileges, functions, and obligations prescribed or provided by 12 Guam 

Code Annotated, Chapter 5; and 

 

WHEREAS,  on May 10th 2024, the Honorable Lourdes A. Leon Guerrero, I Maga’hågan Guåhan, 

transmitted a letter to the GHURA Board of Commissioners; and 

 

WHEREAS,  an offer of a loan was made to GHURA for capital projects, specifically, the acquisition of real 

property for the development of healthcare facilities, and related community development 

projects, within the Municipality of Mangilao; and 

 

WHEREAS,  on May 28th 2024, the GHURA Board of Commissioners accepted the funds and responsibility 

to its use and purpose, consistent with 12 GCA § 5104(f); and 

 

WHEREAS,  the GHURA Board of Commissioners delegated the task to the GHURA Executive Director, 

empowered with all powers, privileges, duties, or functions under 12 GCA Chapter 5, relative 

to the purpose and conditions of the loan; and 

 

WHEREAS,  powers granted to GHURA by 12 GCA § 5104(j), for the acquisition of real property or any 

interest or estate, by way of lease, option, purchase, gift, grant, donation, appropriation, 

bequest, devise, or by the exercise of eminent domain or other; and 

 

WHEREAS,  pursuant to 12 GCA § 5104(m), GHURA may acquire any interest in real property, including 

a fee simple title thereto, in the connection with any project under 12 GCA Chapter 5; and 

 

 WHEREAS,  12 GCA § 5104(m), requires as a condition to the exercise of the power of eminent domain to 

acquire any real property or interest therein which GHURA may deem necessary for its 

purposes under 12 GCA Chapter 5, that the GHURA Board of Commissioners shall first adopt 

a resolution finding and declaring that the acquisition of such property is necessary for such 

purposes; and 

 

WHEREAS, GHURA finds, absent any analysis or study to the contrary, that reasonable consistency to the 
2022 Guam Medical Campus Master Plan provided an objective basis for its action; and 

 

 

 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 1 of 24 



 

 

WHEREAS, GHURA evaluated potential acquisitions based on information provided in the 2022 Guam 
Medical Campus Master Plan, further qualifying acquisitions based on size, contiguity, 
acquisition complexity, and budget; and 

 
WHEREAS, GHURA identified Lot 5327 as “Priority 2” due to its size and contiguity to Lot 5280-3 

“Priority 1” and Lot 5328 as “Priority 3”, weighted higher by its contiguity; and 
 

WHEREAS, through additional research, GHURA identified that Lot 5327 was subdivided into six (6) 
properties, Lot 5327-4-2, Lot 5327-4-3, Lot 5327-4-4, Lot 5327-4-5, Lot 5327-4-R5, and Lot 
5327-2 R/W; and 

 
WHEREAS, five (5) of the prospective properties, collectively designated as (“Priority 2”), Lot 5327-4-2, 

Lot 5327-4-3, Lot 5327-4-4, Lot 5327-4-5, Lot 5327-4-R5, all register ownership Fee Simple 
to Hong Yi Tian, Inc.; 

 

WHEREAS, Lot 5327-2 R/W is a Right-of-Way owned by the Government of Guam; and 
 
WHEREAS, on August 23rd 2024, GHURA’s real estate agent (“Agent”) engaged with the representative of 

Hong Yi Tian, Inc., wherein Hong Yi Tian, Inc., indicated interest in an offer from GHURA 
and gave permission to have the property appraised; and   

 
WHEREAS, on September 30th , 2024, Priority 2 appraisals were completed and reported as follows: 
 
 LOT 5327-4-R5 = $2,200,000  
 LOT 5327-4-2 = $110,000 
 LOT 5327-4-3 = $120,000 
 LOT 5327-4-4 = $144,000 
 LOT 5327-4-5 = $109,000 
 Total = $2,683,000; and 
 

WHEREAS, on October 1st 2024, GHURA made an Offer to Hong Yi Tian, Inc, in the amounts equal to the 
appraised values; and 

 
WHEREAS, on October 2nd 2024, GHURA’s initial Offer was declined by Hong Yi Tian, Inc.; and 
 
WHEREAS, through negotiations between Agent and the representative of Hong Yi Tian, Inc., on October 

2nd, 2024, the Offer was revised, becoming the second Offer, and made as: 
 

1. appraised values, plus 10%, 
2. a property reservation of one (1) acre, commercially (“C”) zoned during the 

development/planning process, to be determined by GHURA, 

 
representing the maximum GHURA is willing to offer, without abandoning its fiduciary 
responsibility; and 
 

WHEREAS, a request was made by Hon Yi Tian, Inc to extend the deadline of the Offer to accommodate a 
meeting between Agent and the owner of Hong Yi Tian, Inc., a citizen of the People’s Republic 
of China (“PRC”) and who resides there full-time, and in consideration of the circumstances, 
GHURA agreed to extend the deadline; and 

 
WHEREAS, on October 14th 2024, the owner of Hong Yi Tian Inc., and Agent met, wherein the owner 

indicated his intention to develop the property and build housing for residents of his city located 

in the PRC and alternatively requested an even land exchange to this end; and 
 
 

 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 2 of 24 



 

 

WHEREAS, GHURA duly considered the proposed alternative and concluded that it was beyond GHURA’s 
ability to grant; and 

 
WHEREAS, on November 6th 2024, GHURA made its third and final Offer of: 
 

1. appraised values, plus 10%, 
2. a property reservation of one (1) acre, commercially zoned during the 

development/planning process, to be determined by GHURA, 
 
representing the maximum GHURA can offer, without abandoning its fiduciary responsibility; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, on November 11th 2024, GHURA’s third and final Offer expired without acceptance by Hong 
Yi Tian, Inc.; and 

 
WHEREAS, GHURA concurrently sought the acquisition of Lot 5328-REM-R2 and Lot 5328-REM-2 

collectively referred to herein as (“Priority 3”); and 
 

WHEREAS, on October 15th 2024, Agent contacted the owner of Priority 3 who expressed interest in a 
potential transaction for the properties, further indicating a desire not to sell for a sum less than 
$4,000,000 million; and 

 
WHEREAS, on October 19th 2024, an initial Offer was made of: 
 

1. purchase price of $4,000,000, 
2. subject to the appraised value, plus 10%, not to exceed $4,000,000; and 

 
WHEREAS, through negotiations between Agent and the owner, on October 23rd 2024, the Offer was 

revised, becoming the second Offer, and made as: 
 

1. purchase price of $3,800,000, 
2. subject to appraised value, 
3. if the appraised value is less than $3,800,000, the price shall be adjusted to the appraised 

value, plus 10%, 
4. if the adjusted purchase price is less than $3,500,000 the owner shall have the option to 

cancel the transaction, 
5. a property reservation of (0.60) acre, light-industrial (“M-1”) zoned during the 

development/planning process, to be determined by GHURA, with Route 15 frontage; and 
 

WHEREAS, on October 24th 2024, the second Offer made on Priority 3 was rejected for the following 
reasons: 

 
1. owner believed the price was too low, 
2. owner desired a reservation of one (1) acre, to be determined by the owner, 
3. owner desired that all related improvements (e.g. water, power, sewer, road access, and a 

driveway) to the reserved lot, be paid by the Government of Guam, and the owner will not 
be assessed connection fees, 

4. owner indicated a desire for a quick sale if GHURA paid $7,600,000,   
5. owner indicated a desire for future discussions when the appraisal is completed; and 

 
WHEREAS, on November 6th 2024, Priority 3 appraisals were complete and reported as follows: 
 

 Lot 5328-REM-2 = $2,020,000 
 Lot 5328-REM-R2 = $1,950,000 
 Total = $3,970,000; and 

 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 3 of 24 



 

 

 
WHEREAS, GHURA duly considered the proposed alternatives and concluded that it was beyond 

GHURA’s ability to grant concessions and purchasing at more than 191% of the appraised 
value would violate cost reasonableness principles; and 

 
WHEREAS, on November 7th 2024, GHURA made its third and final Offer of: 
 

1. appraised values, plus 10% 
2. a property reservation of (0.60) acre, light-industrial (“M-1”) zoned during the 

development/planning process, to be determined by GHURA, with Route 15 frontage; and 
 

WHEREAS, GHURA finds that all reasonable attempts for land purchase were made and that the heavy 
decision to acquire these properties through eminent domain is necessary; and 

 
WHEREAS, GHURA finds that plans outlined in the 2022 Guam Medical Campus Master Plan would better 

serve the community by way of island-wide access to healthcare with future consideration of 
healthcare access to special populations, including, but not limited to, the elderly and veterans; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, GHURA further finds, that the opportunities for new infrastructure, economic development, 

and future attainable housing developments would further benefit the community; and now, 
therefore be it  

 

RESOLVED,   that the Board of Commissioners, hereby finds and declares that the acquisition of Lot 5327-4-

R5, Lot 5327-4-2, Lot 5327-4-3, Lot 5327-4-4, Lot 5327-4-5, Lot 5328-REM-R2, and Lot 

5328-REM-2 is necessary to carry out its purposes under 12 GCA Chapter 5; and be it further 

 

RESOLVED,   that the Board of Commissioners, hereby condemns Lot 5327-4-R5, Lot 5327-4-2, Lot 5327-

4-3, Lot 5327-4-4, Lot 5327-4-5, Lot 5328-REM-R2, and Lot 5328-REM-2; and be it further 

 

RESOLVED,   that the Board of Commissioners finds and declares that the real property acquired hereinabove 

shall be inuring to the benefit of the public generally or any substantial segment thereof; and 

be it further 

 

RESOLVED,   that any actions in eminent domain proceedings, pursuant to 12 GCA Chapter 5 § 5104(n) 

shall be brought in the name of and on behalf of GHURA as plaintiff and title to the property 

shall vest in the Authority; and be it further 

 

RESOLVED,   that declarations of taking in advance of final judgement shall be filed for properties 

condemned and title to said lands, in fee simple absolute, shall vest in GHURA; and be it further 

 

RESOLVED,   that timely deposits be made to the Superior Court of Guam, for each condemned property, 

in amounts equal to the appraised values, respectively, as just compensation; and be it further 

 

RESOLVED,   that an additional sum of ten percent (10%) shall be deposited for each condemned property, 

respectively, in advance, for any additional sums owed for just compensation, as determined 

by the Superior Court of Guam. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 4 of 24 



 

 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and 
correct copy of the Resolution duly adopted by the Guam 
Housing and Urban Renewal Authority Board of 
Commissioners on November 26, 2024. 

 

 

IN REGULAR BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM – NOVEMBER 26, 2024 

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 

AYES:  

NAYES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAINED:       
 
 
(S E A L)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

Board Secretary / Executive Director 

 

 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 5 of 24 



GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

RESOLUTION NO. FY2025-010 

 

 

Moved by:    Seconded by:    

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE AMENDMENT AUTHORIZING GHURA TO ACCEPT 
AN ADDITIONAL TWO MILLION FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($2,500,000.00) IN GUAM CORONAVIRUS STATE AND LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY 
FUNDS FOR COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS; AN ADDITIONAL TWO 
HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($200,000.00) IN GUAM CORONAVIRUS STATE 
AND LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUNDS FOR ASSOCIATED ADMINISTRATIVE 
COSTS; AND THE RATIFICATION OF ALL BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS ACTIONS 
TAKEN PURSUANT TO RESOLUTION NOS. FY2024-016 AND FY2024-016(A). 

 
 
 

WHEREAS, The Board of Commissioners of the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal 
Authority (“GHURA”) is granted by 12 Guam Code Annotated §5103 and 
§5104 the powers, rights, privileges, functions, and duties of the Authority 
enacted through policy to engage in housing projects as defined in 12 
Guam Code Annotated §5102; and 

 
WHEREAS, 12 Guam Code Annotated §5122 outlines provisions for cooperation with 

GHURA and the Government of Guam; and 
 
WHEREAS, on May 28th 2024, GHURA accepted a loan in an amount up to Ten Million 

Dollars ($10,000,000) for capital projects, specifically, the purchase of real 
property for the development of healthcare facilities, and related community 
development projects within the Municipality of Mangilao, Guam; and 

 
WHEREAS, GHURA has a long history of assisting or completing community projects, 

in full or in part, that include, but are not limited to public health laboratories, 
community health facilities, behavioral health facilities, senior citizen 

centers, adult-day care facilities, police stations, fire stations, and 
recreational facilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, GHURA determined the purpose of the loan is consistent with powers, 

rights, functions, and duties granted by 12 Guam Code Annotated 
§5103 and §5104 and healthcare facilities and community development 
projects are housing projects as defined in 12 Guam Code Annotated 
§5102; and   

 
WHEREAS, on July 23rd 2024, GHURA accepted a grant of Three Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($300,000) to facilitate research, survey, and appraisal costs, as 

well as associated administrative costs for the purchase real property 

 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 6 of 24 



viable for the development of healthcare facilities, and related community 
development projects within the Municipality of Mangilao, Guam; and 

 
WHEREAS, GHURA’s acceptance of funding and its purpose were reflected in 

Resolution FY2024-16 and Resolution FY2024-16(A), respectively; and 
 

WHEREAS, on November 6th 2024, the Honorable Lourdes A. Leon Guerrero, I 

Maga’hågan Guåhan, offered GHURA additional funding to support 
acquisition efforts; and 

 
WHEREAS,   GHURA determined an additional Two Million Five Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($2,500,000) is necessary for real property acquisitions and an 
additional Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000) is necessary for 
administrative costs consistent with purposes outlined in FY2024-016(A); 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the funding source for all funding herein are Federal funds from the 

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (“SLFRF”); now, 

therefore, be it 
 
RESOLVED, that the Board of Commissioners of the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal 

Authority accepts the additional funding of Two Million Five Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000) in addition to the original Ten Million Dollars 
($10,000,000), for a total amount of Twelve Million Five Hundred Thousand 
Dollars ($12,500,000) for capital projects, specifically, the acquisition of real 
property viable for the development of healthcare facilities, and related 
community development projects within the municipality of Mangilao, 
Guam; and be it further 

 
RESOLVED, that the Board of Commissioners of the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal 

Authority accepts the additional Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000) 
in  grant funding in addition to the original Three Hundred Thousand Dollars 
($300,000) for a total amount of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars 
($500,000), to facilitate research, survey, and appraisal costs, as well as 
associated administrative costs for the acquisition of real property viable for 
the development of healthcare facilities, and related community 
development projects within the Municipality of Mangilao, Guam; and be it 
further 

 
RESOLVED,   that the Executive Director is duly authorized and directed to exercise any 

executive powers, privileges, duties, or functions consistent with powers 
granted to GHURA under 12 Guam Code Annotated Chapter 5 relative to 
the purpose and conditions of available funding provided by this act; and be 
it further 

 
RESOLVED, that any real property acquired utilizing funds under this policy shall be held 

by GHURA for housing projects as defined in 12 Guam Code Annotated 
§5102; and be it further 

 

 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 7 of 24 



RESOLVED,   that Resolution FY2025-010 shall supersede Resolution FY2024-016 and 
   FY2024-016(A) and that all prior actions taken pursuant to preceding  
   resolutions hereinbefore are ratified, affirmed, and adopted; and be it  
   further 
 
RESOLVED,   that the Board of Commissioners of the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal 

Authority reserves its authority and delegated to the Executive Director, to 
approve any grant, sale, like-in kind exchange, or any other conveyance of 
any real property acquired utilizing funds provided under this policy.  

 
 

IN REGULAR BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM  - NOVEMBER 26, 2024 
PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 
AYES:   
NAYS:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAINED:  
 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and 
correct copy of a Resolution duly adopted by the 
Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority Board 
of Commissioners on November 26, 2024. 
 

 

(SEAL) 
 
 

          

ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

Board Secretary / Executive Director 

 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 8 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 9 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 10 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 11 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 12 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 13 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 14 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 15 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 16 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 17 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 18 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 19 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 20 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 21 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 22 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 23 of 24 



 
Board Meeting of November 26, 2024

 
PAGE 24 of 24 




